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1. Summary 
1.1 Overview of RFP Requirement 
Proponents are invited to put forward submission for FII Annual Year End Audit Services according to the 
specifications set out in this RFP. Any interested proponent may make a submission to this RFP. 

Proponents are advised to pay careful attention to the wording used throughout this RFP. Failure to satisfy any term 
or condition noted may result in a rejected submission.  

Key sections to consider when responding to this RFP include:  
Section 2.2  
RFP Service Description 

A summary of the services FII requires. Proponents should review this section to 
understand the RFP requirements and how their expertise matches the type(s) of 
services FII is looking for. Submissions should address these service requirements.  

Section 4.5 
Mandatory Evaluation 
Criteria 

Proponents must meet the required criteria to be considered for further evaluation 
process. Proponents are encouraged to use the checklist provided as guidance to 
ensure submissions are complete. 

Sections 4.6 
Desirable Evaluation 
Criteria   

Proponents should include evidence to support each of the desirable criteria 
requirements in their submission. This includes: 

• Outlining Experience and Qualifications; 
• Providing Availability of Resources;  
• Providing References; and  
• Listing detailed Pricing.  

If proponents have any questions with regards to the criteria, they are encouraged to reach out to FII for 
clarification at RFP@bcfii.ca.  

FII reserves the right to update, change or modify this RFP (including the scope of services described) at any time, 
and notice of any such amendments shall be posted to the FII website and BC Bid as an update. Further, FII reserves 
the right to cancel this RFP at any time without notice and without liability to FII. 

If the contract provisions are amended by FII during the term of this RFP, notice of such amendments shall be posted 
to the FII website and BC Bid as an update to this RFP. Proponents are responsible for monitoring the FII website and 
BC Bid for any such updates. 

FII does not represent that any contract will be issued pursuant to this RFP, nor does this RFP obligate FII in any way 
to award a contract to any proponent that tenders a submission. Contract awards, if any, shall only be determined 
after evaluations of available proponents’ resources on a project-by-project basis as needs are identified by FII. For 
more information, see Section 5.1 below. 
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1.2 RFP Schedule 
The table below outlines the anticipated schedule and timing for this RFP. The timing and sequence of events may 
vary and shall ultimately be determined by FII. 

 

  

Event Anticipated Date 

RFP issued July 11, 2022 

Submission time August 8, 2022 16:00 Pacific Standard Time 

Evaluation of submissions August 8, 2022 – August 12, 2022 

Proponents advised of results August 12, 2022 
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2. Background & Services Information 
2.1 Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd. 
Forestry Innovation Investment (FII) is British Columbia’s market development agency for forest products. As a 
Crown corporation, we help maintain, create, and diversify markets for B.C. forest products to ensure the forest 
sector continues to be a key contributor to the provincial economy.  

FII works in collaboration with the forest industry, research institutions, the federal government, B.C. government, 
Indigenous organizations, and other stakeholders to deliver innovative, forward-looking programming that responds 
to today’s market dynamics as well as tomorrow’s challenges and opportunities. We do this by delivering and co-
funding a mix of research and capacity building, as well as market development and promotional activities. 

As directed by the Province, FII works with industry and other levels of government with the goal: 

• Positioning B.C. as a global supplier of world-class environmentally friendly forest products 
• Actively maintaining, creating and diversifying demand for B.C. forest products in Canada and in key world 

markets 
• Helping break down non-tariff trade and market barriers to ensure opportunities for B.C. forest products 
• Working with the forest industry to promote B.C.’s forest products and forest management to the global 

marketplace 
• Helping ensure the forest sector, through innovation and market development, continues to be a leading 

contributor to the B.C. economy 
Program Areas and Organization Structure 
Two business divisions deliver FII programs: Operations and Corporate Services. The following table summarizes the 
activities of each of these divisions and their respective program areas. 

Operations 

Market Initiatives 
• Research opportunities in new and emerging markets, and initiate early market exploration activities  
• Support industry trade associations in developing and/or expanding markets and market segments for B.C. 

forest products  
• Support industry efforts to mitigate market access and plant health issues  
• On behalf of the forest sector, manage outreach and relationship building with Chinese authorities and 

central government agencies  
• Undertake early-stage market development in India and Vietnam 

Wood First 
• Champion the Province’s Wood Innovation priorities and encourage expanded wood use in B.C.  
• Raise awareness of the Province as a world leader in innovative, next generation wood construction and 

design  
• Advance the use of wood building systems and technologies in public and private construction  
• Encourage a robust valued-added sector in B.C., through enhanced capacity and competitiveness 

Market Outreach 
• Promote the benefits of wood as a green building material  
• Develop factual and science-based materials to position wood’s environmental benefits and climate 

change mitigation potential  
• Promote B.C. as a world leading supplier of environmentally friendly forest products  
• Ensure markets are aware of B.C.’s sustainable forest practices and high environmental standards 
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Corporate Services 

Finance & Administration 
• Ensure financial reporting meets or exceeds government standards 
• Provide human resources, IT, and office services to meet organizational needs 
• Oversee budget and planning, internal controls, and cash management 

Corporate Relations 
• Provide analytical services to meet internal and external needs 
• Support government and industry trade missions and related initiatives 
• Provide Corporate Secretary services 
• Compile and share export data and analysis of market trends 

 
Location of Operations 

Offices Address 

FII Corporate Office #1200 – 1130 West Pender Street 
Vancouver, B.C., V6E 4A4 

China subsidiary: 
FII Consulting (Shanghai) Co, Ltd., 

425 Hong Feng Road, Jinqiao, Pudong New Area  
Shanghai, P.R. China 201206 

India subsidiary: 
Forestry Innovation Consulting India Private Ltd. 

Unit No. 1202, A-Wing, Naman Midtown 
near Indiabulls Financial Centre, Senapati Bapat Marg, 
Elphinstone Road, Mumbai - 400 013, India 

Vietnam subsidiary: 
Forestry Innovation Consulting (Vietnam) Ltd. 

Suite 1705, 17th Floor – Becamex Tower 
230 Binh Duong Blvd, Phu Hoa Ward 
Thu Dau Mot City, Binh Duong Province 
Vietnam 

More information on FII is available at bcfii.ca. Information on B.C.’s forest products, sustainably managed forests, 
expertise, wood design resources and events is available at naturallywood.com.  

  

http://bcfii.ca/
http://naturallywood.com/
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2.2 RFP Service Description 
2.2.1 Background  
Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd. (FII) manages approximately $22 million on behalf of the Government of 
British Columbia to support programs and initiatives integral to achieving objectives on behalf of the Forest 
Industry and the Province’s Strategic Plan.  FII is committed to ensuring that investments optimize BC’s ability to 
improve international competitiveness and increase the level of benefit derived from the Crown’s forest 
resource.   

In order to ensure full coverage of the audit, FII is seeking to select a professional audit firm to provide optimal 
value in carrying out the year-end audit assignments for our head office in Vancouver and using its affiliated 
companies, auditing its subsidiaries in China, Vietnam and India.  FII is looking for experience in conducting year-
end audit including financial and operational compliance with policy and in accordance with PSAB accounting 
standards on the consolidated financials in Vancouver.  

Interested parties are being asked to provide a detailed description of their qualifications and experience in 
similar projects of this kind, their availability for the required time period and willingness to provide services.  A 
quotation of the annual fee proposed for this audit work is also required. The fee should be proposed in local 
currency for each of its four  audit locations. 

FII will negotiate and enter into a contract with the proponent who best meets the needs of the audit and 
provides the best value.   

Proponents should identify an audit manager in their submission who would work closely with FII management 
to complete audit planning, assign auditors to the project, oversee the quality and comprehensiveness of audit 
activities, review the audit report to ensure completeness and consistency, and assist with challenging audit 
situations or contentious audit issues. 

More information and copies of FII’s previous Consolidated Annual Reports can be found at www.bcfii.ca. Copies 
of the subsidiary year end audited financials are included with this request for proposals in Appendix D. 

2.2.2 Year End Audit Process 
Develop an Overall Audit Strategy and Audit Plan 

• Assign an audit team with the appropriate experience and skills 
• Perform preliminary risk assessment procedures 
• Determine materiality 
• Summarize and present the audit plan to the Audit Committee 
• Confirm expectations with Audit Committee and management and obtain engagement letter 

Understanding the Entity 
• Understand the entity and its environment 
• Evaluate the design of entity-level controls 
• Evaluate the design and implementation of selected controls, including IT general controls 
• Identify risks of material misstatement 
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Develop Risk Responses 
• Assess risks of material misstatement and determine the audit response 
• Develop responsive audit procedures to address significant accounts, such as tests of controls, analytical 

review, or detailed testing 
Audit Completion and Reporting 

• Perform audit procedures 
• Evaluate audit evidence and findings 
• Perform overall evaluation of the financial statements and disclosures in accordance with PSAB 
• Communicate audit results with the Audit Committee 
• Obtain management representations 
• Perform subsequent events review 
• Prepare and issue audit opinion 

2.2.3 Year End Audit Service & Deliverables 

Responsibilities 

The objective is to audit the consolidated financial statements of Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd. for the 
year ending March 31st and provide an opinion on those statements. In order to achieve this result an audit is 
also performed on FII’s India subsidiary as well as its China subsidiary. It is important to know that an audit of 
the financial statements does not relieve management of its responsibilities, who, along with those charged with 
governance, are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements of Forestry 
Innovation Investment Ltd. in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards. 

It should be noted that FII’s China subsidiary has a Dec 31st year end due to PRC rules. Stub period work must be 
undertaken by the affiliate to cover off the period Jan 1 – Mar 31. 

Services 

In conjunction with our audit of Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd., we will provide the following services: 

To Management Anticipate and respond to management's concerns. 

Consult with management regarding new developments in accounting and 
financial reporting issues that affect Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd. 

Prepare recommendations, if needed, to improve internal accounting controls 
and enhance administrative efficiency, and communicate them to management 
and the Audit Committee. 

To the Audit Committee Assist the Audit Committee, as requested, in executing their responsibilities. 

To the Board of Directors Provide the Board with an independent audit opinion on the Consolidated 
Financial Statements of Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd. for the fiscal year 
ending March 31st. 
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Deliverables 

Deliverables Expected 
Dates 

Purpose 

Audit opinion May 24th Independent audit opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements of Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd. for the 
year ended March 31. 

Audit Committee planning memo November Outlines the planned scope and timing of our audit 
including specific risks identified (and our response to 
those risks). 

Management letter May 24th Provides the Audit Committee with any control 
weaknesses identified during our audit including 
management's response to those weaknesses. 

Independence letter November Confirms auditor independence with the Audit 
Committee. 

Audit Committee report May 24th Final report to the Audit Committee on the audit 
including: 

• any difficulties encountered 
• all errors, both corrected and uncorrected 
• a summary of significant issues 
• any concerns regarding internal controls 
• a summary of all audit findings and their 

resolution 
• the results of the audit and expected audit 

opinion to be provided. 

 

2.2.4 Contract Term  
The initial term of the Contract will be for a period of three (3) years.  

Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd. (FII) shall have the option to extend the term of the Contract by an 
additional One (1) year, on the same terms and conditions, by providing written notice to the Consultant at least 
thirty (30) days prior to the expiration of the Contract. 

2.2.5 Fixed Price Contract 
A fixed price must be submitted in each home country currency for of FII Vancouver, FII China, FII India and FII 
Vietnam for the three (3) years of this RFP. The total all-inclusive maximum price proposed is to contain all direct 
and indirect costs including all out-of-pocket expenses. Please note all travel expenses will be reimbursed at FII’s 
travel policy located in Appendix B, Schedule C of this RFP. 
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3. Submission Instructions 
3.1 Submission Deadline & Receipt Location 
Submissions must be in English and must be submitted using the method below. Submissions received after the 
closing date will not be assessed. 

Email Submissions: 
Proponents must submit an electronic submission by email no later than August 8, 2022 16:00 Pacific Standard 
Time. Email submissions must be submitted to RFP@bcfii.ca in accordance with the instructions in Section 3.2 of 
this RFP.  

3.2 Submittal  
• Submissions must be submitted before closing time to the closing location as set out in Section 3.1 of this 

RFP. Submissions must not be sent by fax. The proponent is solely responsible for ensuring that, regardless 
of submission method selected, FII receives a complete submission, including all attachments or enclosures, 
before the closing time. 

• The proponent acknowledges that email transmissions are inherently unreliable. The proponent is solely 
responsible for ensuring that its complete email submission and all attachments have been received before 
Closing Time. If FII’s system rejects an email submission for any reason, and the proponent does not 
resubmit by the same or other permitted submission method before closing time, the proponent will not be 
permitted to resubmit after closing time. The proponent is strongly advised to contact FII immediately 
should this arise. 

• For electronic submissions the following applies: 

• The maximum size of each attachment must be 50 MB or less (proponents are solely responsible 
for ensuring that email submissions comply with any size restrictions imposed by the proponent’s 
internet service provider). 

• Proponents should submit email submission in a single email and avoid sending multiple email 
submissions for the same opportunity. If the file size of an electronic submission exceeds the 
applicable maximum size, the proponent may make multiple submissions to reduce attachment file 
size to be within the maximum applicable size; proponents should identify the order and number of 
emails making up the email submission (e.g. email 1 of 3, email 2 of 3…). 

• For email submissions sent through multiple emails, FII reserves the right to seek clarification or 
reject the submission if FII is unable to determine what documents constitute the complete 
submission. 

• Attachments must not be compressed, must not contain a virus or malware, must not be corrupted 
and must be able to be opened. Proponents submitting by electronic submission are solely 
responsible for ensuring that any emails or attachments are not corrupted. FII may reject 
submissions that are compressed, cannot be opened or that contain viruses, malware or corrupted 
attachments.  



 

RFP FII-23-05 Annual Year End Audit Services | July 2022 11 
 

• The subject line of the email and any attachment should be clearly marked with the name of the 
proponent, the RFP number and the project or program title.  

• FII strongly encourages proponents using electronic submissions to submit submissions with sufficient time 
to complete the upload and transmission of the complete submission and any attachments before closing 
time.  

• The proponent bears all risk associated with delivering its submission electronically, including but not 
limited to delays in transmission between the proponent’s computer and FII’s electronic mail system. 

3.3 Late Submissions 
Submissions will be marked with their receipt time at the closing location described in Section 3.1 above. Late 
submissions will not be accepted and will be returned to the proponent. In the event of a dispute, the submission 
receipt time as recorded at the closing location will prevail, whether accurate or not. 

3.4 Changes to Submissions 
By submission of a clear and detailed written notice, a proponent may amend or withdraw its submission prior to 
the submission time. A proponent cannot change the wording of its submission after the submission time, and no 
words or comments will be added to the submission after the submission time unless requested by FII for purposes 
of clarification, or to correct minor defects pursuant to Section 3.5 below. 

3.5 Correction of Minor Defects 
FII reserves the right, in its sole discretion, to invite a proponent to correct minor defects in a submission. 

3.6 Mandatory Requirements 
Each submission must comply with the mandatory requirements listed in Section 4.5 below, to be considered by 
the evaluation team in respect of the evaluation criteria. 

3.7 Submission Format 
Written submissions should be organized in the following format and sequence listed below: 

• Submission Letter (see Section 3.8 below) 
• Table of Contents 
• Proponent Profile (see Section 4.2 below) 
• RFP Requirements (see Sections 4.3 to 4.10 below) 
• Appendices 

3.8 Submission Letter 
The submission letter in Appendix C 

 of this RFP, or a similar representation of the same information, must be completed, signed by an authorized 
representative of the proponent, and included in the submission. 

3.9 Enquiries 
All enquiries regarding this RFP must be directed to FII in writing. No verbal enquiries will be accepted. FII reserves 
the right to not respond to enquiries and to communicate the enquiry and the answer to all proponents. FII is not 
responsible for any error that could occur from submission or communication of an enquiry by a proponent. 
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4. Submission Content 
4.1 General Information 
The requirements described with a must in this RFP are required to be provided in the submission. Failure to 
provide a response to a mandatory requirement(s) will result in a rejection of the submission. It is recommended 
that submissions also respond to should requirements in this RFP. The submission response to all mandatory and 
desirable requirements in this RFP will be considered by the evaluation team. 

4.2 Vendor Profile  
The submission should include the following: 

• The full legal name and address of the proponent 
• A description of the proponent’s type of business (sole proprietorship, partnership, corporation, etc.) 
• Details of any subcontracting or consortium arrangements proposed by the proponent (see Section 4.7 and 

4.8 below) 
• The full legal name of any proposed subcontractors or consortium members 

4.3 Resource Requirements   
For each submission, the proponent should include: 

• A list of key staff members with short biographies detailing their education, experience and areas of 
expertise 

• Relevant past work examples  

4.4 Financial/Pricing   
The submission must clearly identify each key staff member by role and include their hourly and/or daily rates for 
each year of this RFP. These rates must remain unchanged during the term of the RFP. 

Prices quoted shall be in Canadian dollars and exclusive of the Provincial Sales Tax (PST) & Goods and Services Tax 
(GST). 
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4.5 Mandatory Evaluation Criteria   
The following are mandatory evaluation criteria for all submissions. Submissions that do not clearly demonstrate 
that they meet the mandatory evaluation criteria will receive no further consideration during the evaluation 
process. 

 
  

 Mandatory Requirements Checklist 

 Submission must be delivered to FII by email no later than August 8, 2022 16:00 Pacific Standard 
Time (see Section 3.1. above) 

 The submission letter in Appendix C of this RFP, or a similar representation of the same 
information, must be completed, signed by an authorized representative of the proponent, and 
included in the submission (see Section 3.8 above). 

 The submission must clearly identify a fixed price in each home country currency for FII Vancouver, 
FII China, FII India and FII Vietnam for the three (3) years of this RFP. The total all-inclusive 
maximum price proposed is to contain all direct and indirect costs including all out-of-pocket 
expenses. Please note all travel expenses will be reimbursed at FII’s travel policy located in 
Appendix B, Schedule C of this RFP. 
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4.6 Desirable Evaluation Criteria   
Responses meeting the mandatory evaluation criteria will be further assessed against the following desirable 
criteria. Submissions should describe the proponent’s experience regarding the following desirable evaluation 
criteria. Responses not achieving a passing percentage score of 60%  will receive no further consideration during 
the qualifications review. 

Desirable Evaluation Requirements  Percentage Score 

1. Experience & Qualifications: 
Proponents should list their proven  knowledge and skills and identify their 
relevance to the project.   
This includes: 

• All staff and other resources (i.e. specialists, associates ) to be used, 
with their respective curricula vitae 

• Clearly note the Audit Manager and their experience. 
• List all staff to work on the project including their relevant 

experience and curricula vitae. 
• Full details of their prior experience in the areas of financial auditing 

as it pertains to this specific assignment, with particular emphasis 
on forest sector and government crown corporations, including: 

• Up to five examples of work similar to this project that have been 
successfully completed; 
 

For larger audit firms that apply, it must be clearly explained in your 
proposal the role that individuals in your team will play in the delivery of 
work.  You should note which auditors will be assigned to complete the 
actual on-site audit work, and which auditors will be managing the contract / 
supporting the on-site auditors as they complete the audit work.   

 

45% 

2. Availability: 
Proponents should indicate the availability of resources to complete the 
work within any timeframes identified. 

 

15% 

3. References:  
Proponents should provide a list of client references.  The submission should 
include not more than five client references that are best suited to validate 
items in all areas of their submission, but specific to the examples of work 
indicated as being most relevant to this assignment.  Include contact 
information for each reference. 

 

10% 

4. Price:  
A fixed price in each home country currency for FII Vancouver, FII China, FII 
India and FII Vietnam for the three (3) years of this RFP. The total all-
inclusive maximum price proposed is to contain all direct and indirect costs 
including all out-of-pocket expenses. Please note all travel expenses will be 
reimbursed at FII’s travel policy located in Appendix B, Schedule C of this 
RFP. 

 

30% 
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The evaluation team may ask to contact the references provided by the proponent, or other references that are 
familiar with the proponent’s work. Where in the opinion of FII a proponent’s resource receives an unsatisfactory 
reference, FII reserves the right to reject the submission. 

4.7 Consortiums   
If the submission is provided by a consortium of two or more individuals or entities then the submission must 
identify one of the members of the consortium as the proponent, and the others as subcontractors to the 
proponent. The proponent so identified shall be responsible for all terms and conditions of any contracts that may 
be awarded and will be the only party to whom FII shall be obligated under any such contract (if awarded). The 
proponent so identified will be responsible for ensuring that the other members of the consortium, as 
subcontractors, are able to provide the services to be provided by them under any such contract. 

4.8 Subcontractors   
Proponents should identify all subcontractors that they intend to use in providing any services, and their submission 
should provide the same information on the subcontractors that is provided on the proponent (as required in 
Section 4.3 above).  

A competitive process is not required for the proponent to enter into any subcontracts under $25,000; however, 
the proponent will retain evidence to demonstrate that the price charged and rates used are reasonable. 
Reasonable means that they are within the normal expected range for similar services. 

The proponent must obtain the approval of FII before entering into any subcontracts between $25,000 - $100,000 
not included and specifically identified in the original approved submission. FII may, at its discretion, request that 
such subcontracting be carried out using a competitive tendering process. If a competitive process is not required, 
the proponent will detail and maintain a rationale for the selection of the subcontractor with reference to how the 
reasonableness of the rate charged has been ascertained. 

Unless otherwise agreed to in writing by FII, all subcontracts exceeding $100,000, including cumulative awards to 
the same subcontractor, will be awarded using a competitive tendering process. If a competitive process is not 
possible, for any reason, then FII reserves the right to request that the proposed subcontractor submit a separate 
submission to FII for consideration and evaluation in accordance with FII’s request for submission process. 

4.9 Conflict of Interest    
In their submissions, proponents should indicate any real or potential conflict of interest of which they are aware 
regarding performing work under this RFP. 

FII may reject a submission if, in the opinion of FII, the proponent or its submission would create a conflict of 
interest in connection with the services requested under this RFP. 

4.10 Submission Acceptance/Rejection    
FII is not required to accept the lowest cost submission and may reject any or all submissions. 
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5. RFP Terms and Conditions 
4.1 No Contract  
This RFP does not constitute an offer to enter into a contract with FII and no contract of any kind is formed under, 
or arises from, this RFP. This RFP will not prohibit or restrict FII from direct awarding a contract where FII deems it 
necessary to do so.  

4.2 Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act   
All documents and other records (including the submissions) in the custody of or under the control of FII may be 
subject to the Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act (British Columbia) (FOIPPA), and may be 
required, by law, to be disclosed under FOIPPA. 

Except as expressly stated in this RFP and subject to FOIPPA, all documents and other records included in a 
submission (and the submission) to this RFP will be considered confidential by FII. 

4.3 Confidentiality   
Information pertaining to FII obtained by a proponent as a result of participation in this RFP is confidential and must 
not be disclosed without prior written consent from FII. 

4.4 Incurred Costs    
Proponents are solely responsible for their own expenses in preparing their submissions and for subsequent 
contract negotiations with FII, if any. If FII elects to reject all submissions received, FII will not be liable to any 
proponent for any claims, whether for costs or damages incurred by a proponent in preparing its submission, or any 
other matter whatsoever, and proponents waive any and all claims for any such costs or damages. 

4.5 Reservation of Rights     
FII reserves the right, in its sole discretion, to: 

• Amend the scope of the Services, modify, cancel or suspend this RFP or any or all stages of the RFP, at any 
time for any reason 

• Accept or reject any submission based upon the evaluation criteria described in this RFP as determined in 
the sole discretion of the evaluation team 

• Not accept any or all submission 
• Reject or disqualify any or all submissions without any obligations, compensation or reimbursement to any 

proponent 
• Re-advertise for new or additional submissions after the submission date  
• Make any changes to the terms of the opportunity described in the RFP 
• Extend, from time to time, any date, time period or deadline provided in this RFP 
• Cancel the RFP at any time without evaluating any submissions or without entering into any contracts 

4.6 No Obligation to Contract     
FII is not obligated to award any contracts under this RFP to any proponents, and no proponent is entitled, as a 
matter of right, to an award of contract. 
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4.7 Form of Contract      
It is expected that any proponent who is awarded a contract will enter into a contract with FII in substantially 
similar form and on substantially similar terms and conditions as the contract attached as Appendix B. 

4.8 Ownership of Submissions       
All submissions to this RFP and accompanying documentation will become the property of and will be retained by 
FII. Returns of any subsequent documentation or materials will be at the sole discretion of FII. 

4.9 Agreement on International Trade        
This RFP is subject to Chapter 5 of the Agreement on International Trade, and its successor the Trade, Investment 
and Mobility Agreement, effective April 1, 2009. 

4.10 Notification         
When the review process is completed and a contract is awarded, FII will notify proponents of the results. 

4.11 Vendor Debriefing          
FII will offer a debriefing to proponents who did not receive an award of a contract, on request, at a mutually 
agreeable time. 
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6. Appendices 
• Appendix A – Defined Terms 
• Appendix B – FII Professional Service Agreement Template 
• Appendix C – Submission Letter 
• Appendix D – FII Consolidated Annual Report and Subsidiary Year End 

Financials 
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Appendix A – Defined Terms 
When used in this RFP the following terms will have the meanings given to them below. Any terms defined 
elsewhere in this RFP will have the meanings so given to them.  

Consortium: two or more individuals and/or organizations that together submit a response to this RFP 

Contract: the written agreement resulting from this RFP executed by FII, and a successful proponent  

Evaluation criteria: the criteria described in Section 4.5 and 4.6 below 

Evaluation team: the committee established by FII to evaluate submissions under this RFP 

FII: Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd. 

Must, or mandatory: a requirement that has to be met in order for a submission to receive consideration under this 
RFP, as described in Sections 3.1, 3.3, 3.4 and 4.5 below, unless specifically stated otherwise in this RFP 

Pacific Time: Pacific Standard Time or Pacific Daylight time as provided for in the Daylight Savings Time Act of British 
Columbia 

Proponent: an individual, partnership, firm or company that submits, or intends to submit, a submission in response 
to this RFP 

RFP: this document and any Schedules or Appendices attached to this document, as they may be amended by FII 

Services: the functions, duties, tasks and responsibilities to be provided by the proponent as described in the 
contract awarded to a proponent 

Should or desirable: a requirement having a significant degree of importance to the objectives of the RFP and which 
will be considered in the evaluation of the submission 

Subcontractor: a person, firm, corporation or other legal entity contracting with the proponent to perform a part of 
the services 

Submission: a formal response submitted by a proponent to this RFP and is the statement of information that 
substantially complies with the form and content requirements of this RFP 

Submission time: the time and date indicated as such under Section 1.2, being the time and date after which the 
evaluation of submissions will take place by the evaluation team. 
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Appendix B – FII Professional Service Agreement Template 
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Appendix C – Submission Letter 
 

 

(Proponent’s Letterhead) 

 

(Date) 

 

Laura Bobadilla 
Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd. 
#1200 – 1130 West Pender Street 
Vancouver, B.C. 
V6E 4A4 
 
 
RE: Request for Proposal for FII-23-05 Annual Year End Audit Services 
 
 
Enclosed is our submission in response to this Request for Proposal (RFP). 
 
(Name of Proponent) confirms the terms and conditions of this RFP have been read, understood, and agreed to in its 
entirety and are willing to enter into the contract attached as Appendix B. 
 
 
___________________________________ 
Authorized Signature 
 
 
___________________________________ 
Print Name 
 
 
___________________________________ 
Title 
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Appendix D – FII Consolidated Financial Statement and Subsidiary Year End 
Financial Statements 
 

 (see following pages) 



 
 
 
 

Consolidated Financial Statements 

Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd. 

March 31, 2022 
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Statement of Management Responsibility 
 
 
Scope of Responsibility 
Management has supervised preparation of the accompanying consolidated financial statements 
and related note disclosures and is responsible for their integrity and objectivity. The consolidated 
financial statements of Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd. (FII) have been prepared by 
management in accordance with the financial reporting provisions prescribed by the Province of 
British Columbia pursuant to Section 23.1 of the Budget Transparency and Accountability Act 
(see Note 2(a).  
We believe that these consolidated financial statements present fairly FII’s financial position as at 
March 31, 2022 and the consolidated statement of operations, change in net assets, and cash flow 
for the year ending March 31, 2022 and that the other information contained in the Company’s 
annual report is consistent with the consolidated financial statements as presented. 
 
Internal Controls 
Management is responsible for the integrity of the financial statements and has established 
systems of internal controls to provide reasonable assurance that transactions are properly 
authorized, assets are safeguarded, and financial records are properly maintained to facilitate the 
preparation of the financial statements in a timely manner. We continually monitor these internal 
accounting controls, modifying and improving them as business conditions and operations 
change. We believe our system of internal accounting controls provide reasonable assurance that 
errors or irregularities that would be material to the consolidated financial statements are 
prevented or detected in the normal course of business. 
 
Board of Directors and Audit Committee 
The Board of Directors is responsible for reviewing and approving the consolidated financial 
statements and overseeing management’s discharge of its financial reporting responsibilities. An 
Audit Committee is appointed by the Board. The Audit Committee reviews the consolidated 
financial statements, adequacy of internal controls, audit process and financial reporting with 
management and with the external auditors. The Audit Committee has reviewed these 
consolidated statements prior to recommending approval by the Board of Directors. The Board of 
Directors has reviewed and approved the financial statements. 
 
Independent Auditors 
Grant Thornton has performed an independent audit of the consolidated financial statements of 
Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd. The Auditor’s Report, as attached, outlines the scope of this 
independent audit and expresses an opinion on the financial statements of Forestry Innovation 
Investment Ltd. 
 
 
 
 
    
Michael Loseth Douglas Greig 
Chief Executive Officer Vice President & CFO 
  
Vancouver, British Columbia 
June 1, 2022 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 

To the Board of Directors of Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd. 

To the Minister of Jobs, Economic Recovery and Innovation, Province of British Columbia 

Opinion 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd. (the 
“Company”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at March 31, 2022, 
and the consolidated statements of operations and accumulated surplus, changes in net financial 
assets and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, 
including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements are prepared, in all material 
respects, in accordance with the accounting requirements of Section 23.1 of the Budget Transparency 
and Accountability Act of the Province of British Columbia.  

Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the 
audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the 
Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated 
financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Emphasis of matter – basis of accounting 
We draw attention to Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, which describes the basis of 
accounting and the significant differences between such basis of accounting and Canadian public 
sector accounting standards. 

Grant Thornton LLP 
Suite 1600 
333 Seymour Street 
Vancouver, BC 
V6B 0A4 
 

T +1 604 687 2711 
F +1 604 685 6569  
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Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the consolidated 
financial statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation of these consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with the accounting requirements of Section 23.1 of the Budget Transparency and 
Accountability Act of the Province of British Columbia, and for such internal control as management 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to a going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to 
liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting 
process. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue 
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is 
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 
standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from 
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated 
financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:  

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk 
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control.  

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management. 
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• Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events 
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going 
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our 
auditor's report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may 
cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.  

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the Company and the organizations it controls to express an opinion on 
the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and 
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.  

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit. 

Vancouver, Canada  
June 1, 2022  Chartered Professional Accountants 
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
(in thousands of dollars)
March 31 2022             2021             

Note
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 5,154           $ 5,231           
Short term investments 1,009           -               
Accounts receivable 161              160              
Recipient advances 4 81                44                
Due from Province of British Columbia 13                17                
Due from other governments 556              1,275           

Total financial assets 6,974           6,727           

Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 3 1,257           1,655           
Due to Province of British Columbia 54                16                
Due to other governments 146              132              
Recipient payables 4 151              234              
Deferred contributions 6 603              593              

Total liabilities 2,211           2,630           

Net financial assets 4,763           4,097           

Non-financial assets
Tangible capital assets 7 470              447              
Prepaid expenses 551              497              

Total non-financial assets 1,021           944              

Accumulated surplus $ 5,784           $ 5,041           

Commitments (Note 8)
 
 
 
Approved by the Board 
 
 
 
   Director    Director 
 
 

satoy
Stamp
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Consolidated Statement of Operations and Accumulated 
Surplus 
(in thousands of dollars)
Year ended March 31 Budget 2022             2021             

Note

Revenue 10
Government contributions

Provincial $ 21,550         $ 21,595         $ 22,559         
Federal 1,978           1,941           2,418           

Other revenue 280              19                381              
Investment income -               57                65                

23,808         23,612         25,423         

Expenses 10
Funding recipient initiatives 8,756           11,419         12,158         
Market initiatives and outreach

FII Vancouver 6,681           4,172           5,427           
FII China 2,400           2,130           2,269           
FII India 3,400           2,760           2,966           

 FII Vietnam 1,077           869              -               
Corporate services 1,494           1,519           1,557           

23,808         22,869         24,377         

Annual surplus -               743              1,046           

Accumulated surplus, beginning of year 5,041           5,041           3,995           

Accumulated surplus, end of year $ 5,041           $ 5,784           $ 5,041           
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Net Financial Assets 
(in thousands of dollars)
Year ended March 31 Budget 2022             2021             

Annual surplus $ -               $ 743              $ 1,046           

Acquisition of tangible capital assets (100)             (198)             (242)             
Amortization of tangible capital assets 180              175              139              
Acquisition of prepaid expenses (20)               (54)               (11)               

Increase in net financial assets 60                666              932              

Net financial assets, beginning of year 4,097           4,097           3,165           

Net financial assets, end of year $ 4,157           $ 4,763           $ 4,097           
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
(in thousands of dollars)
Year ended March 31 2022             2021             

Cash provided by (used in):

Operating
Annual surplus $ 743              $ 1,046           
Items not involving cash

Amortization of tangible capital assets 175              139              
Amortization of deferred contributions (195)             (169)             

Change in accounts receivable (1)                 47                
Change in recipient advances (37)               (1)                 
Change in due from Province of British Columbia 4                  (1)                 
Change in due from other governments 719              (173)             
Change in accounts payable and accrued liabilities (398)             (20)               
Change in due to Province of British Columbia 38                (5)                 
Change in due to other governments 14                (42)               
Change in recipient payables (83)               37                
Change in prepaid expenses (54)               (11)               

925              847              

Investing
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (198)             (242)             
Acquisition of short-term investments (1,009)          -               

(1,207)          (242)             

Financing
Receipt of deferred contributions 205              241              

(Decrease) increase in cash (77)               846              

Cash, beginning of year 5,231           4,385           

Cash, end of year $ 5,154           $ 5,231           
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1.  General 
 
Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd. (the “Company” or “FII Vancouver”) was incorporated on 
March 31, 2003 under the laws of the Province of British Columbia (the “Province”). The Company 
has authorized capital of 100 common shares without par value of which 10 shares are issued and 
outstanding. Her Majesty the Queen in Right of the Province of British Columbia, as represented by 
the Minister of Jobs, Economic Recovery and Innovation, holds the shares issued. A board of 
directors governs the Company, and all directors are appointed by the Province. The Company’s 
principal activities are to fund forest industry associations and research institutions and to deliver 
market development and market initiatives and outreach programs. 
 
 
2.  Summary of significant accounting policies 
 
(a) Basis of presentation 

 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Section 23.1 
of the Budget Transparency and Accountability Act of the Province of British Columbia which 
requires accounting policies which are consistent with Canadian public sector accounting 
standards except in regard to the accounting for restricted capital contributions. 
 
Under Section 23.1 of the Budget Transparency and Accountability Act and its related 
regulations, the Company is required to recognize restricted capital contributions as a liability 
and recognize them into revenue on the same basis as the related amortization expense. 
 
Under Canadian public sector accounting standards, those transfers with stipulations that have 
been met or that do not contain stipulations that create a liability, are fully recognized into 
revenue. 
 
The impact of this difference on the consolidated financial statements of the Company would be 
a decrease in deferred capital contributions as at March 31, 2022, and increases in revenues 
and annual surplus for the year then ended. 
 

(b) Reporting Company and basis of consolidation 
 
These consolidated financial statements reflect the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses of 
the reporting Company. The reporting Company is comprised of the Company consolidated 
with FII Consulting (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. (“FII China”), a wholly-owned subsidiary registered 
under the laws of the People’s Republic of China; 0939031 B.C. Ltd., a wholly-owned 
subsidiary registered under the laws of British Columbia; Forestry Innovation Consulting India 
Pvt. Ltd. (“FII India”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and 0939031 B.C. Ltd., 
registered under the laws of the Republic of India; and Forestry Innovation Consulting 
(Vietnam) Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary registered under the laws of Vietnam. 
 
FII China is based in Shanghai, China, FII India is based in Mumbai, India, and FII Vietnam is 
based in Thu Dau Mot City, Vietnam with all subsidiaries delivering market development 
programs on behalf of the Company. The subsidiaries are consolidated on a line-by-line basis 
after inter-organizational transactions and balances between these entities have been 
eliminated.  
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2.  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
(c) Revenue recognition 

 
Unrestricted contributions, donations and grants are recorded as revenue when receivable if 
the amounts can be reasonably estimated and collection is reasonably assured. 
 
Restricted contributions include amounts received from the Province and the Canadian Federal 
Government for specific purposes. Restricted contributions are recorded as deferred 
contributions when received or receivable. The deferred contribution and associated revenue 
are recognized based upon the nature of the restriction, as follows: 
 
(i) Restricted capital contributions 

 
Capital contributions for the purpose of acquiring or developing a depreciable tangible 
capital asset are recorded and referred to as deferred capital contributions. Deferred capital 
contributions are reduced and the associated revenue recognized at the same rate and in 
the same fiscal period that amortization is recognized in respect of acquired depreciable 
tangible capital asset used to provide services.  

 
(ii) Other restricted contributions 

 
Deferred contributions are reduced and the associated revenue recognized in the period 
during which the stipulation or restriction on the contribution have been met. 
 

Investment income includes interest recorded on an accrual basis. 
 

(d) Program expenses 
 

Program expenses include amounts transferred to recipient organizations based on recipient 
funding contracts to carry out specific program activities. Amounts transferred are recognized 
as expenses in the period in which events giving rise to the transfer occur, providing the 
transfers are authorized, any eligibility criteria have been met by the recipient, and reasonable 
estimates of the amounts can be made. 
 

(e) Pension plans 
 
The Company and its employees contribute to the Public Service Pension Plan, which is a 
multi-employer jointly trusteed plan. The plan is a defined benefit plan, providing pension on 
retirement based on the member’s age at retirement, length of service and highest earnings 
averaged over five years. As the assets and liabilities of the plan are not segregated by 
employer, the plan is accounted for as a defined contribution plan and any Company 
contributions to the plan are expensed as incurred. 

 
(f) Financial instruments 

 
Financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, recipient 
advances, short term investments, amounts due from the Province, amounts due from other 
governments, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, amounts due to the Province, amounts 
due to other governments, and recipient payables. 
 
The Company measures its financial instruments at cost or amortized cost.  
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2.  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
(f) Financial instruments (continued) 
 

For financial instruments measured at cost or amortized cost, transaction costs are added to 
the cost of the financial instruments.  
 
Interest and dividends attributable to financial instruments are reported in the consolidated 
statement of operations. 
 
All financial assets are tested annually for impairment. When financial assets are impaired, 
impairment losses are recorded in the consolidated statement of operations. 
 
There are no financial instruments measured at fair value; therefore, the consolidated financial 
statements do not include a consolidated statement of remeasurement gains and losses. 

 
(g) Non-financial assets 
 

(i)  Tangible capital assets 
 
Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost, which includes all amounts that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition, construction, development or betterment of the asset. Cost, 
less residual value, of the tangible capital assets is amortized on a straight-line basis over 
their estimated useful lives as follows: 
 
Asset Useful life 
 
Computer equipment 3 years 
Computer software 2 years 
Furniture and equipment 5 years 
Leasehold improvements lesser of the lease term 
 and its useful life 
Tradeshow booths 3 years 
 
Assets under construction are not amortized until the asset is available for productive use. 

 
(ii) Contributions of tangible capital assets 

 
Tangible capital assets received as contributions are recorded at their fair value at the date 
of receipt. 

 
(iii) Interest capitalization 
 

The Company does not capitalize interest costs associated with the acquisition or 
construction of tangible capital assets. 
 

(iv) Intangible assets 
 

Intangible assets are not recognized in these consolidated financial statements.  
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2.  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
(h) Foreign currency translation 

 
These consolidated financial statements are stated in Canadian dollars. The Company’s foreign 
operations, conducted through FII China, FII India, and FII Vietnam are considered financially 
interdependent with the Company, and are translated from Chinese renminbi (“RMB”), Indian 
rupee (“INR”), and Vietnamese dong (“VND”) using the temporal method of translation. 
Accordingly, monetary assets and liabilities are translated at the spot exchange rates in effect 
at the date of the statement of financial position; non-monetary items are translated at historical 
exchange rates in effect on the dates of the transactions. Revenue and expense items are 
translated at monthly average exchange rates in effect during the month in which the 
transaction occurred, except for amortization which is translated at the historical exchange rate 
of the corresponding non-monetary item. Realized exchange gains and losses are included in 
the consolidated statement of operations.  

 
(i) Budget 

 
Budget data presented in these consolidated financial statements are based on the Company’s 
Service Plans. The budget was approved by the Board of Directors on January 27, 2021. 
 

(j) Use of estimates 
 
The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires management to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and 
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial 
statements, and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the year. Significant 
items subject to such estimates and assumptions include the useful lives of tangible capital 
assets. Actual results could differ from those estimates.  

 
(k) Segment disclosures 

 
A segment is defined as a distinguishable activity or group of activities of an Company for 
which is it is appropriate to separately report financial information. The Company has provided 
definitions of segments used by the Company as well as presented financial information of the 
segments in Note 10. 

 
(l) Financial assets 
 

(i)  Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents comprises cash on hand and deposits with financial institutions. 

 
(ii) Short term investments 

 
Short term investments include term deposits measured at cost. 
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3. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 2022             2021             

Trade payables $ 306              $ 883              
Accrued liabilities 951              772              

$ 1,257           $ 1,655           
 
 
4.  Recipient advances and payables 
 
The Company’s policy on recipient funding contracts stipulates that unspent advances are repaid to 
the Company. Historically, unspent advances have been repaid to the Company prior to the end of 
the first quarter of the new fiscal year after final reconciliation reports have been submitted. 
 
In addition, the Company withholds a percentage of earnable administration costs from their interim 
advances. Recipients would qualify for this final funding amount withheld based on meeting eligible 
reporting criteria in the recipient reporting process.  
 
As at March 31, 2022, the Company has identified $151 (2021 - $234) as payable to the recipient 
organizations and $81 (2021 – $44) as receivable from the recipient organizations. 
 
 
5.  Pension plans 
 
The Company and its employees contribute to the Public Service Pension Plan, which is a multi-
employer jointly trusteed plan. The plan is a defined benefit plan, providing pension on retirement 
based on the member’s age of retirement, length of service and highest earnings averaged over 
five years. The board of trustees of the plan represents plan members and employers and is 
responsible for the management of the plan including investment of the assets and administration 
of the plan.  
 
The most recent actuarial valuation for the Public Service Pension Plan as at March 31, 2020 
indicated a $2,667 funding surplus for basic pension benefits on a going concern basis. 
 
As described in Note 2(e), the plan is accounted for as a defined contribution plan. During the year 
ended March 31, 2022, the Company paid $261 (2021 - $255) for employer contributions to the 
plan. 
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6.  Deferred contributions 
 
Deferred contributions consist of contributions received from the Province for tangible capital assets 
and other capital and operating contributions for which goods and services remain outstanding. 
Deferred contributions are comprised of the following: 
 

Provincial      Other            2022 2021

Balance, beginning $ 563              $ 30                $ 593              $ 521              
  of year
Contributions received 
  during the year 205              -               205              241              
Amounts amortized
  to revenue (183)             (12)               (195)             (169)             

Balance, end of year $ 585              $ 18                $ 603              $ 593              
 
Included in Provincial deferred contributions is $7 (2021 - $Nil) that is unspent.  
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7.  Tangible capital assets 
 
(a) Assets in use 
 

Cost
2021 Additions Disposals 2022

Computer equipment $ 648              $ 37              $ (47)             $ 638              
Computer software 12                -             -             12                
Furniture and equipment 463              67              (4)               526              
Leasehold improvements 1,228           68              (2)               1,294           
Tradeshow booths 325              26              (10)             341              

$ 2,676           $ 198            $ (63)             $ 2,811           

Accumulated amortization
2021 Amortization Disposals 2022

Computer equipment $ 509              $ 71              $ (47)             $ 533              
Computer software 12                -             -             12                
Furniture and equipment 356              27              (4)               379              
Leasehold improvements 1,061           54              (2)               1,113           
Tradeshow booths 291              23              (10)             304              

$ 2,229           $ 175            $ (63)             $ 2,341           

Net book value
2021 2022

Computer equipment $ 139              $ 105              
Computer software -               -               
Furniture and equipment 107              147              
Leasehold improvements 167              181              
Tradeshow booths 34                37                

$ 447              $ 470              
 
(b) Assets disclosed at nominal values 
 

The cost of tangible capital assets includes the fair market value of certain assets transferred to 
the Company from the Province effective April 1, 2003 for one dollar. These assets are now 
fully amortized. 
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8.  Commitments 
 
(a) The Company has lease commitments for its premises it occupies. 

2023 $ 1,161           
2024 552              
2025 321              
2026 11                
2027 -               
Thereafter -               

$ 2,045           
 
(b) The Company also has an obligation to pay $378 (2021 - $626) for contracts entered into and 

not yet completed at March 31, 2022. 
 
(c) The Company has an operating line of credit with HSBC Bank of Canada with maximum 

available credit of $2,000 which incurs interest at prime plus 1.5% per annum. As of 
March 31, 2022, no amounts have been withdrawn through the utilization of the credit line. 

 
 
9.  Financial instruments risk management 
 
The Company has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: 
 
Credit risk 
 
Credit risk is the risk that the Company’s counterparties default or become insolvent. 
 
The Company is potentially exposed to credit risk through cash and cash equivalents, accounts 
receivable, short term investments, recipient advances, amounts due from the Province, and 
amounts due from other governments. Cash is maintained with financial institutions of reputable 
credit and may be redeemed upon demand. Accounts receivable consist mainly of cost share 
agreements which are monitored on a regular basis. Amounts due from the Province and amounts 
due from other governments consist of reimbursement claims. It is the Company’s opinion that its 
exposure to credit risk is subject to normal industry risks and is considered minimal. 
 
As at March 31, 2022, accounts receivable, recipient advances, amounts due from the Province, 
and amounts due from other governments are comprised of: 
 

Under 90 days Over 90 days Total             

Accounts receivable $ 161              $ -               $ 161              
Recipient advances 81                -               81                
Due from Province of British Columbia 13                -               13                
Due from other governments 556              -               556              

$ 811              $ -               $ 811              
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9.  Financial instruments risk management (continued) 
 
Liquidity risk 
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they 
become due. 
 
The Company manages its exposure to liquidity risk by maintaining sufficient cash balances 
throughout the year to meet its short-term obligations. It is the Company’s opinion that its exposure 
to liquidity risk is subject to normal industry risks and is considered minimal. 
 
Market risk 
 
Market risk is the risk that fluctuations in market prices will affect the Company’s net financial 
assets. Market risk comprises two types of risk: 
 
Currency risk and foreign denominated cash 
Currency risk is the risk that fluctuations in foreign currencies will affect the Company’s net financial 
assets denominated in foreign currencies. 
 
The Company is subject to foreign exchange risk through its program payables and program 
advances and a portion of the Company’s program and tradeshow costs, which are denominated in 
Chinese renminbi, Indian rupee, Vietnamese dong and United States dollars. The Company 
manages its exposure to currency risk by monitoring its assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies and purchasing foreign denominated currency to pay upcoming commitments when the 
market conditions are favourable. The Company does not use derivatives instruments to reduce its 
exposure to foreign currency risk. Included in office costs is $13 (2021 – $126) of foreign exchange 
gains.  
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9.  Financial instruments risk management (continued) 
 
Market risk (continued) 
 
Currency risk and foreign denominated cash (continued) 
The amounts shown are translated to Canadian dollars at the closing rate: 
 

CAD
Total

Cash $ 774                      $ 536                       $ 1,746                   $ 57                        $ 3,113         
Accounts receivable
  and due from other
  governments -                       -                        552                      -                       552            
Accounts payable -                       172                       520                      15                        707            

CAD
Total

Cash $ 660                      $ 511                       $ 1,439                   $ -                       $ 2,610         
Accounts receivable
  and due from other 
  governments -                       1                           826                      -                       827            
Accounts payable -                       195                       448                      -                       643            

2022

2021

USD denominated
amounts in CAD

RMB denominated
amounts in CAD

INR denominated
amounts in CAD

VND denominated
amounts in CAD

VND denominated
amounts in CAD

USD denominated
amounts in CAD

RMB denominated
amounts in CAD

INR denominated
amounts in CAD

 
 
Interest rate risk 
Interest rate risk is the risk that fluctuations in interest rates will affect the Company’s net financial 
assets that bear interest at variable rates. The Company manages its exposure to interest rate risk 
by investing in interest bearing cash accounts and short-term investments. 
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10. Segmented information 
 
Segmented information has been identified based upon programs provided by the Company. 
Company programs and their activities are reported by functional area in the body of the 
consolidated financial statements. Programs that have been separately disclosed in the segmented 
information, along with the services they provide, are as follows: 
 
(a) Funding Recipient Initiatives 

 
Uses project funding delivered through an annual “Call for Proposals” in partnership with the 
Government of Canada to fund non-profit organizations, universities, forest industry 
associations and research institutions to: 

 
• Maintain and create opportunities for B.C. wood products in existing and emerging markets; 
• Ensure that customers, consumers, designers, builders, developers and architects know 

about BC wood products and the many positive features they bring to wood construction 
and interior finishing; 

• Support the development of innovative new forest products and building systems; and 
• Provide interested parties around the world with information on the properties and qualities 

of BC’s forest products and the BC companies that supply them. 
 
(b) Market Initiatives and Outreach Program 
 

(i)  FII Vancouver Initiatives 
 

Internally directs delivered programs that: 
 

• Promote the benefits of wood as a green building material; 
• Position B.C. as a global supplier of world-class environmentally friendly forest 

products; 
• Research opportunities in new and emerging markets, and initiate early market 

exploration activities; 
• Support industry efforts to mitigate non-tariff trade and market barriers for B.C. forest 

products; 
• Champion the Province’s wood innovation priorities and advance the use of wood 

building systems and technologies in public and private construction; 
• Raise awareness of the Province as a world leader in innovative, next generation wood 

construction and design; and 
• Encourage a robust valued-added sector in BC through enhanced capacity and 

competitiveness. 
 
(ii) FII China Initiatives 
 
 FII China has a mandate to optimize the value of B.C. lumber exports to China by 

expanding the share of wood construction in China’s building sector. FII China focuses on 
the following activities: 
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10. Segmented information (continued) 
 
(b) Market Initiatives and Outreach Program (continued) 

 
(ii) FII China Initiatives (continued) 

 
• Expand and strengthen relationships with Chinese national, regional and local 

government entities (including state-owned developers) to position the environmental 
benefits of wood construction in response to new policies of the Chinese government to 
encourage low-carbon, energy-efficient and prefabricated construction in China; 

• Promote wood construction in high priority segments such as cultural buildings, 
tourism, wellness and elderly care facilities, hybrid construction (wood mixed with 
concrete/steel) and mid-rise and taller wood construction; and 

• Work closely with Canadian forest industry trade association staff to expand China’s 
technical capacity to deploy wood construction. 

 
(iii) FII India Initiatives 
 
 FII India has a mandate to establish a local presence in India for B.C. and Canadian forest 

products; develop working relationships with manufacturers, importers, architects, 
developers and the wood-user community; and grow demand for B.C. lumber in the wood 
in manufacturing sector. The operation focuses on early market development activities 
including: 

 
• Positioning B.C.’s sustainable softwoods to take advantage of India’s growing fibre 

needs; 
• Undertaking promotional and educational activities targeting potential end users; 
• Conducting product trials and providing technical support to allow local manufacturers to 

gain experience working with B.C. species in specific applications; and 
• Building a stockist (importer/distributor) network in India to carry and supply B.C. wood 

species in the market. 
 

(iv) FII Vietnam Initiatives 
 
 FII Vietnam has a mandate to identify opportunities for B.C. species in Vietnam’s wood 

manufacturing sector; identify key players in the supply chain to introduce them to B.C. 
species; and build the demand for, and awareness of, Canadian wood products in the 
market. The operation focuses on early (pre-commercial) market development activities, 
including: 

 
• Positioning B.C.’s sustainable softwoods as an alternative to hardwood for furniture 

manufacturing; 
• Introducing B.C. species and suppliers to Vietnamese importers, traders and furniture 

manufacturers;  
• Conducting product trials and providing technical support to allow local manufacturers to 

gain experience working with B.C. species in specific applications; and 
• Identifying opportunities in the marketplace and any barriers to entry. 
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10. Segmented information (continued) 
 
(c) Corporate services 

 
Corporate services performs the following activities: 

 
• Ensures financial reporting to government standards; 
• Provides Human Resource, IT and office services to meet organizational needs; 
• Oversees budget and planning, internal controls and cash management; 
• Support government and industry trade missions and related initiatives; 
• Provide corporate secretary services; and 
• Provides corporate communication, market data and analytical services to meet internal 

and external needs. 
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10. Segmented information (continued) 
 

Funding
Recipient Corporate 2022 2021
Initiatives FII Vancouver FII China FII India FII Vietnam services Total Total

Revenues
Government contributions

Provincial $ 10,691       $ 4,681         $ 2,356         $ 1,899        $ 563           $ 1,405         $ 21,595       $ 22,559       
Federal 229            50              43              1,161        458           -             1,941         2,418         

Other revenue -             5                -             8               1               5                19              381            
Investment income -             -             2                42             -            13              57              65              

Total revenues 10,920       4,736         2,401         3,110        1,022        1,423         23,612       25,423       

Expenses
Amortization -             -             12              42             20             101            175            139            
Auditing 281            -             44              46             18             48              437            380            
Grants 3,563         -             -             -            -            -             3,563         4,613         
Office costs 55              306            398            633           83             170            1,645         1,560         
Professional services 241            1,405         347            1,004        268           137            3,402         4,256         
Program costs 6,912         411            -             -            -            -             7,323         7,285         
Salaries, wages and benefits 367            2,006         1,221         949           398           1,014         5,955         5,798         
Trade missions -             5                -             -            -            -             5                45              
Travel and business costs -             39              108            86             82             49              364            301            

Total expenses 11,419       4,172         2,130         2,760        869           1,519         22,869       24,377       

Annual surplus (deficit) $ (499)           $ 564            $ 271            $ 350           $ 153           $ (96)             $ 743            $ 1,046         

Market Initiatives and Outreach
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11. Impact of COVID-19 
 
On March 11, 2020 the COVID-19 outbreak was declared a pandemic by the World Health 
Organization. While the pandemic impacted in-market travel, tradeshow attendance and in-person 
seminars, FII staff have moved to virtual events to replace these delivery mechanisms. Over the 
past year FII staff have been able to work from home during the multiple government shutdowns in 
Canada and their other foreign markets and have continued to deliver alternate versions of their 
programs as planned. 
 
The situation is dynamic and the ultimate duration and magnitude of the impact on the economy 
and our operations are not known at this time. These impacts could include potential future 
decreases in revenue and potential delayed spending on market initiative and outreach programs in 
any one of the countries that the Company operates in due to ongoing restrictions in each 
respective country. Management is closely monitoring the evolving situation and taking measures 
to mitigate potential negative impacts to the Company. 
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AUDITORS’ REPORT 
 

GTCNSZ(2022)No.310C019529 

 

 

To FII Consulting (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of FII Consulting (Shanghai) Co., Ltd . (the 

"Company"), which comprise the balance sheet as at 31 December 2021, and the income 

statement, cash flow statement and statement of changes in equity for the year then ended, 

and the notes to the financial statements. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all mater ial respects, 

the financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2021, and its financial performance 

and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with the <Accounting System for 

Business Enterprises>. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with China Standards on Auditing. Our responsibilities 

under those standards are further described in the "Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of 

the Financial Statements" section of our report. We are independent of the Company in  

accordance with the Code of Ethics for Chinese Certified Public Accountant ("Ethics Code") 

together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements, 

and we fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and 

the Ethics Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial 

Statements 

Management of the Company is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 

statements in accordance with the <Accounting System for Business Enterprises>, and for such 

internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 

statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

  



 

 
 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial 

Statements (Continued) 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company's 

ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 

concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends 

to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.  

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company's financial 

reporting process. 

Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as 

a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 

auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a  high level of assurance, 

but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with China Standards on Auditing 

will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud 

or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 

be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial 

statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with China Standards on Auditing, we exercise professional 

judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:  

(1) Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether 

due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain 

audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of 

not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 

error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 

override of internal control. 

(2) Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of  expressing an 

opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control.  

 (3) Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 

accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.  

  



 

 
 

Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (Continued) 

 (4) Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of 

accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 

related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company's ability to 

continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required 

to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, 

if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the 

audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or 

conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern. 

(5) Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, and 

whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner 

that achieves fair presentation. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 

planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 

deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.  

 

 

 

 

 

Grant Thornton 

(For identification purpose only) 

Certified Public Accountant 

 

 

Certified Public Accountant 

 

 

Wu Ying 

 

 

Yan Guanliang 

Address: Shanghai, China 15 May 2022 



Company: FII Consulting (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. Currency: RMB

Items Notes V 2021.12.31 2020.12.31

CURRENT ASSETS:

  Cash and cash equivalents 1 2,994,817.63          2,704,739.32          

  Held-for-trading financial assets

  Notes receivable

  Accounts receivable 2 13,407,413.10        13,938,444.31        

  Prepayments 5,946.00                 

  Interest receivable

  Dividends receivable

  Other receivables 3 909,448.64             903,303.16             

  Inventories

    Including: Raw materials

                    Finished goods

  Non-current assets due within one year

  Other current assets

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 17,311,679.37        17,552,432.79        

NON-CURRENT ASSETS:

  Available-for-sale financial assets

  Held-to-maturity investments

  Long-term receivables

  Long-term equity investments

  Investment property

  Fixed assets - Cost 4 1,163,260.11          1,498,798.49          

  Less: Accumulated depreciation 4 1,127,682.90          1,431,069.17          

  Fixed assets - Net book value 4 35,577.21               67,729.32               

  Less: Impairment 4

  Fixed assets - Net carrying value 4 35,577.21               67,729.32               

  Construction in progress

  Materials held for construction of fixed assets

  Fixed assets pending for disposal

  Productive biological assets

  Oil and gas assets

  Intangible assets 5

  Development costs

  Goodwill

  Long-term deferred expenses

  Deferred tax assets

  Other non-current assets

    Including: Assets specifically reserved

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 35,577.21               67,729.32               

TOTAL ASSETS 17,347,256.58        17,620,162.11        

BALANCE SHEET
[English Translation for Reference Only]
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Company: FII Consulting (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. Currency: RMB

Items Notes V 2021.12.31 2020.12.31

CURRENT LIABILITIES:

  Short-term loans

  Held-for-trading financial liabilities

  Notes payable

  Accounts payable

  Advance from customers

  Salaries and employee benefits payable 6 481,172.64                 565,128.02                 

    Including: Salaries payable 481,172.64                 565,128.02                 

                     Employee welfare payable

　　　　　    Including: Special reserve for employee and welfare

  Taxes and other fees payable 7 52,776.96                   101,879.08                 

    Including: Tax payable 52,776.96                   101,879.08                 

  Interest payable

  Dividends payable

  Other payables 246,213.58                 347,361.79                 

  Non-current liabilities due within one year 8 76,508.40                   78,298.80                   

  Other current liabilities

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 856,671.58                 1,092,667.69             

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES:

  Long-term loans 9 2,792,556.60             2,936,205.00             

  Bonds payable

  Long-term payables

  Specific accounts payable

  Provisions

  Deferred tax liabilities

  Other non-current liabilities

    Including: Fund specifically reserved

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 2,792,556.60             2,936,205.00             

TOTAL LIABILITIES 3,649,228.18             4,028,872.69             

OWNERS' EQUITY:

  Paid-in capital 10 9,932,520.00             9,932,520.00             

    Capital by State

       Including: Capital by state legal representative

    Capital by collective individuals

    Capital by private capital

       Including: Capital by individuals

    Capital by foreign investors 9,932,520.00             9,932,520.00             

  Less: Redemption of capital

  Net paid-in capital 9,932,520.00             9,932,520.00             

  Capital reserves

  Less: Treasury stocks

  Specific reserves

  Surplus reserves 11 375,731.94                 365,058.04                 

    Including: Statutory reserves

                    Discretionary reserves

                    Reserved funds 375,731.94                 365,058.04                 

                    Enterprise development funds

                    Profit to be returned to investors

  Retained earnings ("-" for accumulated losses) 12 3,389,776.46             3,293,711.38             

TOTAL OWNERS' EQUITY 13,698,028.40           13,591,289.42           

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND OWNERS' EQUITY 17,347,256.58           17,620,162.11           

BALANCE SHEET (CONTINUED)
[English Translation for Reference Only]

Legal representative: Nansiang Lim     Person in charge of accounting function: Ada Shi     Person in charge of accounting department: Ada Shi 
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Company: FII Consulting (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. Currency: RMB

Items Notes V 2021 2020

Total revenue 11,941,111.15        11,260,268.94        

Including: Revenue from operations 13 11,941,111.15        11,260,268.94        

                     Including: Revenue from main operations 11,941,111.15        11,260,268.94        

                                     Revenue from other operations

Total cost of sales 11,888,773.42        11,122,323.62        

Including: Operating costs                                                     

                     Including: Operating cost from main operations                                                     

                                     Operating cost from other operations                                                     

                 Sales tax and surcharges 28,447.84               21,950.47               

                 Selling expenses 1,636,939.38          1,417,608.84          

                 General and administrative expenses 10,297,026.70        9,897,445.67          

                     Including: Research and development costs

                 Finance expenses ("-" for income) 14 -73,640.50             -214,681.36           

                     Including: Interest expenses

                                     Interest income 9,369.69                 10,386.98               

                                     Net foreign exchange losses ("-" for gains) -67,952.43             -209,371.40           

                 Impairment losses

                 Others

Add:  Gains from the changes in fair value ("-" for losses)

          Investment income ("-" for losses)

            Including: Share of profits in associates and joint ventures

PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS ("-" FOR LOSSES) 52,337.73               137,945.32             

Add:  Non-operating income 15 56,350.07               28,161.36               

  Including: Gains from disposal of non-current assets                           

                  Gains from exchange of non-monetary assets

                  Government grant                           

                  Gains from debt restructuring

Less: Non-operating expenses 16 332.60                    

  Including: Losses from disposal of non-current assets 332.60                    

                  Losses from exchange of non-monetary assets

                  Losses from debt restructuring

PROFIT BEFORE TAX ("-" FOR LOSSES) 108,355.20             166,106.68             

Less: Income tax expenses 17 1,616.22                 8,796.26                 

NET PROFIT FOR THE YEAR ("-" FOR LOSSES) 106,738.98             157,310.42             

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 106,738.98             157,310.42             

INCOME STATEMENT

Legal representative: Nansiang Lim     Person in charge of accounting function: Ada Shi     Person in charge of accounting department: Ada Shi 

[English Translation for Reference Only]
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Company: FII Consulting (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. Currency: RMB

Items Notes 2021 2020

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:

  Cash received from sales of goods or rendering of services 13,188,609.03        11,786,864.73        

  Refunds of taxes

  Other cash received relating to operating activities 34,717.91              38,742.22               

Sub-total of cash inflows from operating activities 13,223,326.94        11,825,606.95        

  Cash paid for goods and services 327,447.56             289,720.95             

  Cash paid to and on behalf of employees 5,885,274.99          6,256,091.14          

  Tax payments 440,607.13             398,985.57             

  Other cash paid relating to operating activities 6,191,813.11          4,873,475.71          

Sub-total of cash outflows from operating activities 12,845,142.79        11,818,273.37        

Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities 378,184.15             7,333.58                 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities:

  Cash received from disposal of investments

  Cash received from return on investments

  Cash received from disposal of fixed assets, intangible assets

  and other long-term assets

  Other cash receipts relating to investing activities

Sub-total of cash inflows from investing activities                                                     

  Cash paid to acquire fixed assets, intangible assets

  and other long-term  assets
10,619.47              49,640.70               

  Cash paid to acquire investment

  Other cash paid relating to investing activities

Sub-total of cash outflows from investing activities 10,619.47              49,640.70               

Net Cash Flows used in Investing Activities -10,619.47             -49,640.70             

Cash Flows from Financing Activities:

  Cash received from capital contributions

  Cash received from borrowings

  Cash received from bondings

  Other cash receipts relating to financing activities

Sub-total of cash inflows from financing activities

  Repayments of borrowings 77,486.37              82,843.60               

  Dividends paid, profit distributed or interest paid

  Other cash payments relating to financing activities

Sub-total of cash outflows from financing activities 77,486.37              82,843.60               

Net Cash Flows used in Financing Activities -77,486.37             -82,843.60             

Effect of Foreign Exchange Rate Changes on Cash

and Cash Equivalents

Net Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents 290,078.31             -125,150.72           

  Add: Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 2,704,739.32          2,829,890.04          

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 2,994,817.63          2,704,739.32          

CASH FLOW STATEMENT

Legal representative: Nansiang Lim     Person in charge of accounting function: Ada Shi     Person in charge of accounting department: Ada Shi 

[English Translation for Reference Only]
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Company: FII Consulting (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. Currency: RMB

Paid-in capital Capital reserves Less: Treasury stocks Specific reserves Surplus reserves Retained earnings Total Owners' Equity

1. Balance as at the end of last year 9,932,520.00    365,058.04 3,293,711.38 13,591,289.42 

Add: Changes in accounting policies  

        Corrections of errors in prior periods  

        Others  

2. Balance at the beginning of the year 9,932,520.00    365,058.04 3,293,711.38 13,591,289.42 

3. Movement during the year ("-" for decrease)     10,673.90 96,065.08 106,738.98 

3.1. Net profits for the year 106,738.98 106,738.98 

3.2. Other comprehensive income  

Subtotal of 3.1 and 3.2      106,738.98 106,738.98 

3.3. Paid-in capital injected by or returned to investors        

a. Paid-in capital injected by investors  

b. Share-based payments charged to equity  

c. Others  

3.4. Specific reserves        

a. Provision in the current period  

b. Utilised in the current period  

3.5. Appropriations of profits     10,673.90 -10,673.90  

a. Appropriations to surplus reserves     10,673.90 -10,673.90  

      Including: Statutory reserves   

                       Discretionary reserves  

                       Reserved funds 10,673.90 -10,673.90  

                       Enterprise development funds  

                       Profit to be returned to investors  

b. Appropriations to investors  

c. Others  

3.6. Equity transfer among equity accounts ("-" for decrease)        

a. Capital reserves transferred to paid-in capital  

b. Surplus reserves transferred to paid-in capital  

c. Surplus reserves used to offset losses  

d. Others  

4. Balance at the end of the year 9,932,520.00    375,731.94 3,389,776.46 13,698,028.40 

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Items
2021

Legal representative: Nansiang Lim                                                      Person in charge of accounting function: Ada Shi                                                       Person in charge of accounting department: Ada Shi

[English Translation for Reference Only]
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Company: FII Consulting (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. Currency: RMB

Paid-in capital Capital reserves Less: Treasury stocks Specific reserves Surplus reserves Retained earnings Total Owners'

1. Balance as at the end of last year 9,932,520.00 349,327.00 3,152,132.00 13,433,979.00 

Add: Changes in accounting policies  

        Corrections of errors in prior periods  

        Others  

2. Balance at the beginning of the year 9,932,520.00  349,327.00 3,152,132.00 13,433,979.00 

3. Movement during the year ("-" for decrease) 15,731.04 141,579.38 157,310.42 

3.1. Net profits for the year 157,310.42 157,310.42 

3.2. Other comprehensive income  

Subtotal of 3.1 and 3.2 157,310.42 157,310.42 

3.3. Paid-in capital injected by or returned to investors  

a. Paid-in capital injected by investors  

b. Share-based payments charged to equity  

c. Others  

3.4. Specific reserves  

a. Provision in the current period  

b. Utilised in the current period  

3.5. Appropriations of profits 15,731.04 -15,731.04  

a. Appropriations to surplus reserves 15,731.04 -15,731.04  

      Including: Statutory reserves  

                       Discretionary reserves  

                       Reserved funds 15,731.04 -15,731.04  

                       Enterprise development funds  

                       Profit to be returned to investors  

b. Appropriations to investors  

c. Others  

3.6. Equity transfer among equity accounts ("-" for decrease)  

a. Capital reserves transferred to paid-in capital  

b. Surplus reserves transferred to paid-in capital  

c. Surplus reserves used to offset losses  

d. Others  

4. Balance at the end of the year 9,932,520.00  365,058.04 3,293,711.38 13,591,289.42 

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONTINUED)

Items
2020

Legal representative: Nansiang Lim                                                      Person in charge of accounting function: Ada Shi                                                       Person in charge of accounting department: Ada Shi

[English Translation for Reference Only]
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I. COMPANY BACKGROUND 

FII Consulting (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. (“the Company”) is a wholly foreign owned investment enterprise 
incorporated in Shanghai of the People’s Republic of China (“the PRC”) on 23 February 2004, and 
approved by the People’s Government of Shanghai with Certificate of Approval SWZHPDZZ (2004) 
No.0479. The Company obtained its Business License QDHZZ No.318318 (Pu Dong) on February 
2004.  

The Company’s unified social credit code is 91310000759017094D and the operation period is 30 years. 
As at 31 December 2021, the registered capital was USD 1,200,000, and the percentage of investment 
by the investor is as follows: 

Investors Investment  

Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd. 100% 

The main business scope of the Company is: marketing strategy and promotion consulting, technical 
consulting and investment consulting of forest products.  

II. BASIS OF PREPARATION 

The financial statements are prepared under the <Accounting System for Business Enterprises> and the 
relevant supplementary regulations issued by the Ministry of Finance and are prepared on the going 
concern basis.  

The presentation of the financial statements of the Company was in accordance with the notification 
issued by the Ministry of Finance <CaiQi No. [2013]323 - presentation of 2013 financial statements by 
enterprise>. 

III. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 

1. Accounting system and accounting standards 

The accounting policies adopted by the Company are in accordance with <Accounting System for 
Business Enterprises> and the relevant supplementary regulations issued by the Ministry of Finance.  

2. Accounting period 

The Company’s accounting year starts on 1 January and ends on 31 December.  

3. Recording currency 

The recording currency of the Company is Renminbi Yuan ("RMB").  

4. Basis of accounting and measurement bases 

The Company follows the accrual basis of accounting. Assets are initially recorded at actual cost on 
acquisition and subsequently adjusted for impairment, if any.  
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III. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED) 

5. Foreign currency translation 

The foreign currency business of the Company in a year shall be converted into standard currency 
according to the benchmark exchange rate published by the People's Bank of China at the date of the 
transaction when the business occurs. At the end of the period, adjustments shall be made according to 
the benchmark exchange rate. If the difference is related to the purchase and construction of fixed 
assets and before the fixed assets reach the preset state for use, it shall be included in the purchase 
and construction cost of relevant fixed assets; If the difference is not related to the purchase and 
construction of fixed assets during the preparation period, it shall be included in long-term deferred 
expenses; if the difference is related to the production and operation period, it shall be included in the 
current financial expenses. 

6. Cash equivalents 

Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known 
amounts of cash and which are held by the Company and subject to limited risk on changes in value. 

7. Bad debt provision 

The Company uses provision method to account for its potential bad debts identified by management.  
The Company makes specific bad debts provision on an individual basis for receivables that are 
distinctively different from any other receivable in recoverability. 

According to the previous experience, the actual financial status and cash flow of the debtor and other 
relevant information, the receivables whose recoverability is significantly different from that of other 
funds shall adopt the individual identification method to draw up bad debt provisions. 

Criteria for recognition of bad debts: 

(1) Due to bankruptcy or death of the debtors, the balance becomes irrecoverable despite pursuing 
statutory recovery procedures or offsetting against the estate of the administrators;  

(2) The debtors do not perform their liabilities of the overdue debts, and there is strong evidence 
indicating that these amounts cannot be recovered.  

Where evidence exists that balances cannot be recovered, bad debts are recognized after appropriate 
approval by management and the corresponding provision for bad debts is written off. 

8. Fixed assets and depreciation  

Fixed assets are tangible assets stated at cost upon acquisition with useful economic lives exceeding 
one year and relatively high unit price. These include computers and office facilities held by the 
Company that are used in rendering of services or held for management purposes. Fixed assets are 
recorded at the cost when acquired. 

Subsequent expenditures for major reconstruction, expansion, improvement and renovation are 
capitalized when it is probable that the future economic benefits exceeds the originally assessment of 
the existing asset, or the useful life of fixed assets is prolonged or the quality of products is substantively 
improved or the cost of products is substantively reduced as a result of such expenditure. However, the 
amount capitalized should not exceed the increase of recoverable amount. All other subsequent 
expenditures are expensed when incurred. 
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III. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED) 

8. Fixed assets and depreciation (Continued)  

Fixed assets are depreciated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost of the assets to their 
estimated residual values over their estimated useful lives. According to the estimated useful lives and 
estimated residual values, the annual depreciation rates are as follows: 

Category of fixed assets 
Estimated  
useful life 

Estimated  
residual value 

Annual rate of 
depreciation 

Computers and office facilities 3-5 years - 20.00-33.33% 

The Company reviews its fixed assets on an individual basis at each period end and provides for 
impairment losses when the recoverable value of the fixed assets falls below the carrying value due to 
continuing slump of market value, technical obsolescence, damages or long period idleness.  

9. Intangible assets and amortization 

Intangible assets are stated at actual cost upon acquisition. Intangible assets are amortized on the 
straight-line basis over period of the estimated tenure of use.  

Category of intangible assets Year of Amortization Annual rate of amortization 

Software 3 years  33.33% 

The Company reviews the intangible assets on an item-by-item basis at the period end and impairment 
is provided for when any of the following exists:  

(1) An intangible asset is obsolete and being replaced by another new technology which causes adverse 
affect in its ability to generate future economic benefits;  

(2) The market value of an intangible asset has dropped significantly in the current period, and is not 
expected to recover in its remaining useful economic life;  

(3) The legal protection period of an intangible asset expires, but the asset still has residual values;  

(4) Other arising circumstances have proven that an intangible asset is impaired in substance.  

When the recoverable amount of any intangible assets is lower than its carrying amount, an impairment 
loss is recognized for this difference.  

When an intangible asset can no longer bring future economic benefits to the Company, its book value 
is written off against general and administration expenses.  

10. Revenue recognition  

Revenue from rendering of services 

For service started and completed within the same fiscal year, revenue is recognized when service is 
completed. For service started and completed in different fiscal years, revenue is recognized using the 
percentage of completion method when the economic benefits associated with the transaction can be 
measured reliably.  
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III. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED) 

11. Operating leases 

A lease that transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset is a 
finance lease. An operating lease is a lease other than a finance lease. 

(1) Lessee in operating leases 

Rental payments for operating leases are recognized as expenses on a straight-line basis over the 
period of the leases. 

12. Income taxes 

The Company accounts for enterprise income taxes using the tax payable method.  

IV. TAXATION 

1. Main taxes and rates 

Category of Taxes Basis of taxes Tax rates 

Value added tax Taxable revenue 6% 

Corporate income tax Taxable profit Note1 

Note1: According to the relevant provisions of notice of Taxation Bureau of The Ministry of Finance on 
the implementation of Preferential Tax Reduction and Exemption Policies for Small and Micro 
Enterprises (No.13 [2019]) and Notice of Taxation Bureau of the Ministry of Finance on The 
implementation of Preferential Tax Policies for Small and Micro Enterprises and Individual Industrial and 
Commercial Households (No.12 [2021]), the taxable income of the Company in 2021 is not exceeding 
RMB 1 million, so that a reduction of 12.5% will be included in taxable income and with the corporate 
income tax rate of 20%. Thus, the applicable corporate income tax rate for the Company in 2021 is 
2.5%. 

V. DETAILED NOTES ON MAIN FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ITEMS 

1. Cash and cash equivalents  

Category 2021.12.31 2020.12.31 

Cash in hand 17,811.87 14,164.97 

Cash at bank  2,977,005.76 2,690,574.35 

Total 2,994,817.63 2,704,739.32 
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V. DETAILED NOTES ON MAIN FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ITEMS (CONTINUED) 

1. Cash and cash equivalents (Continued) 

The above includes foreign currency as follows:  

 2021.12.31 2020.12.31 

Currency 
Original 

currency 
Exchange 

rate 
Equivalent 

to RMB 
Original 

currency 
Exchange 

rate 
Equivalent 

to RMB 

USD 1,681.67 6.3166 10,622.43 1,681.21 6.3166 10,619.47 

Note: At the end of the period, the Company has no amount of any pledged or potential non recoverable 
cash.  

2. Accounts receivable 

（1）The ageing of accounts receivable and related percentages are analyzed below:  

Ageing 
2021.12.31                         2020.12.31 

Amount  
% of total 

balance 
Amount 

% of total 
balance 

Within1 year 1,240,683.56 9.25 1,771,714.77 12.71 

Over 3 years 12,166,729.54 90.75 12,166,729.54 87.29 

Subtotal 13,407,413.10 100.00 13,938,444.31 100.00 

Less: Provision -  -  

Total 13,407,413.10 100.00 13,938,444.31 100.00 

（2）Provision 

Note: At the end of the period, the Company checked the accounts receivable, and there was no sign of 
impairment of accounts receivable, so there was no provision for bad debt.  

3. Other receivables 

（1）The ageing of other receivables and related percentages are analyzed below:  

Ageing 
2021.12.31                         2020.12.31 

Amount  
% of total 

balance 
Amount 

% of total 
balance 

Within1 year 109,020.64 11.99 102,875.16 11.39 

2~3 years 44,604.00 4.90 44,604.00 4.94 

Over 3 years 755,824.00 83.11 755,824.00 83.67 

Subtotal 909,448.64 100.00 903,303.16 100.00 

Less: Provision -  -  

Total 909,448.64 100.00 903,303.16 100.00 
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V. DETAILED NOTES ON MAIN FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ITEMS (CONTINUED) 

3. Other receivables (Continued) 

（2）Provision 

Note: At the end of the period, the Company checked the other receivables, and there was no sign of 
impairment of other receivables, so there was no provision for bad debt.  

4. Fixed assets and accumulated depreciation 

（1）Cost  

Category 2021.01.01 Increase Decrease 2021.12.31 

Computers and office facilities 1,498,798.49 10,619.47 346,157.85 1,163,260.11 

（2）Accumulated depreciation 

Category 2021.01.01 Increase Decrease 2021.12.31 

Computers and office facilities 1,431,069.17 42,438.98 345,825.25 1,127,682.90 

（3）Net carrying value  

Category 2021.01.01   2021.12.31 

Computers and office facilities 67,729.32   35,577.21 

Note: At the end of the period, the Company checked the fixed assets, and there was no sign of 
impairment of fixed assets, so there was no provision for impairment of fixed assets.  

5. Intangible assets 

（1）The intangible assets by project is as follows: 

Category   Cost 2021.01.01 Increase Decrease Amortization 2021.12.31 

Software 55,269.85 - - - - - 

6. Salaries and employee benefits payable 

Category 2021.12.31 2020.12.31 

Wages, bonuses, allowances and subsidies 297,225.20 313,851.67 

Staff welfare 183,947.44 251,276.35 

Total 481,172.64 565,128.02 
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V. DETAILED NOTES ON MAIN FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ITEMS (CONTINUED) 

7. Taxes and other fees payable 

Category  2021.12.31 2020.12.31 

Value added tax 47,399.73 89,083.59 

Individual income tax 1,536.00 5,529.96 

Other taxes 3,841.23 7,265.53 

Total 52,776.96 101,879.08 

8. Non-current liabilities due within one year 

Category 2021.12.31 2020.12.31 

Long-term loans due within one year 76,508.40 78,298.80 

9. Long-term loans 

Category Annual Interest rate% 2021.12.31 2020.12.31 

Related party loans - 2,869,065.00 3,014,503.80 

Less: Long-term loans due within one year  76,508.40 78,298.80 

Total  2,792,556.60 2,936,205.00 

Note: The related party loan of $474,000 with zero interest rate was from the investor Forestry 
Innovation Investment Ltd., with the loan period from February 29, 2005 to February 28, 2025. As of 
December 31, 2021, the principal balance of the loan is $450,000. 

10. Paid-in capital  

Category 2021.01.01 Increase Decrease 2021.12.31 

Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd. 9,932,520.00 - - 9,932,520.00 

11. Surplus reserves 

Category 2021.01.01 Increase Decrease 2021.12.31 

Reserved funds 365,058.04 10,673.90 - 375,731.94 

Note: Pursuant to the regulations of foreign invested enterprise of The People's Republic of China and 
regulations of the Company, after making up for losses carry forward from previous years, the profits 
should be first allocated to reserved funds, employees' rewards and welfare funds, then it can be 
distributed to investors. The proportion of allocation for reserved fund should not be less than 10% and if 
the amount of reserved fund was more than 50% of the registered capital, the Company can opt to 
cease contributing to the reserve funds. The proportion of allocation for reserved funds, employees’ 
rewards and welfare funds are determined by the board of directors. As the Company is profitable this 
year, it has opted to contribute 10% of profit after tax to the reserved fund.  
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V. DETAILED NOTES ON MAIN FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ITEMS (CONTINUED) 

12. Retained earnings  

Category 2021 2020  

Retained earnings at the beginning of the year  3,293,711.38 3,152,132.00 

Add: Net profits 106,738.98 157,310.42 

Less: Appropriations to reserved funds 10,673.90 15,731.04 

Retained earnings at the end of the year 3,389,776.46           3,293,711.38 

13. Revenue from operations 

Category 2021 2020  

Revenue from rendering of service 11,941,111.15 11,260,268.94 

14. Finance expenses 

Category 2021 2020  

Interest income (“-” for income) -9,369.69 -10,386.98 

Net foreign exchange gains / losses (“-” for gains) -67,952.43 -209,371.40 

Others 3,681.62 5,077.02 

Total -73,640.50           -214,681.36 

15. Non-operating income 

Category 2021 2020  

Additional deduction for input tax 30,387.95 28,161.36 

Others 25,962.12 - 

Total 56,350.07 28,161.36 

16. Non-operating expenses 

Category 2021 2020  

Losses on disposal of fixed assets 332.60 - 

17. Income tax expenses 

Category 2021 2020  

Income tax expenses for the year 1,616.22 8,796.26 
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VI. CASH FLOWS 

1. Cash flow statement supplementary information  

Category 2021 2020  

(1) Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash from 
operating activities: 

  

Net profits 106,738.98 157,310.42 

Add：Depreciation of fixed assets 42,438.98 83,722.14 

     Losses on disposal of fixed assets 332.60 - 

     Financial expenses ("-" for gains) -67,952.43 -209,371.40 

     Decrease in operating receivables ("-" for increase) 530,831.73 -128,772.47 

     Increase in operating payables ("-" for decrease) -234,205.71 104,444.89 

Net cash flows from operating activities 378,184.15 7,333.58 

(2) Cash and cash equivalents movement   

Cash at the end of the period 2,994,817.63 2,704,739.32 

Less: Cash at the beginning of the period 2,704,739.32 2,829,890.04 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 290,078.31 -125,150.72 

2.  Cash and cash equivalents 

Category 2021.12.31 2020.12.31 

Cash 2,994,817.63 2,704,739.32 

Including: Cash in hand 17,811.87 14,164.97 

        Cash at bank available for payment 2,977,005.76 2,690,574.35 

Ending balance of cash and cash equivalents 2,994,817.63 2,704,739.32 

VII. RELATED PARTIES AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS  

1.  Related parties 

（1）The following are related parties where a control relationship exists  

A、Name of related parties and relationship with the Company 

Name Relationship 

Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd. Investor 
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VII. RELATED PARTIES AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED) 

（1）The following are related parties where a control relationship exists (continued) 

B、Capitals invested and changes of capital of the related parties 

Name         2021.12.31  2020.12.31 

 Share or equity % Share or equity % 

Forestry Innovation 
Investment Ltd. 
    
    
    
    
   

9,932,520.00 100.00 9,932,520.00 100.00 

2、Related parties transactions 

（1）Rendering of services 

Name 2021 2020  

Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd. 11,941,111.15 11,260,268.94 

（2）Repayment of loans 

Name 2021 2020  

Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd. 77,486.37 82,843.60 

3、Receivables from and payables to related parties 

（1）Accounts receivable 

Name 2021.12.31 2020.12.31 

Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd. 13,407,413.10 13,938,444.31 

（2）Other receivables  

Name 2021.12.31 2020.12.31 

Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd. 95,223.40 97,862.69 

（3）Other payables 

Name 2021.12.31 2020.12.31 

Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd. 2,058.93 2,982.97 

（4）Non-current liabilities due within one year 

Name 2021.12.31 2020.12.31 

Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd. 76,508.40 78,298.80 
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VII. RELATED PARTIES AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED) 

3、Receivables from and payables to related parties (Continued) 

（5）Long-term loans 

Name 2021.12.31 2020.12.31 

Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd. 2,792,556.60 2,936,205.00 

VIII. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 

As at 31 December 2021, the Company has no contingent liabilities that needs to be disclosed.  

IX. SIGNIFICANT COMMITMENTS 

1. Operating lease commitments 

As of 31 the December 2021, the Company has committed to non-cancellable operating lease and 
the future minimum payments are as follows:  

Operating lease commitments 2021.12.31 2020.12.31 

Less than 1 year 3,197,076.00 3,044,918.29 

2. Other commitments 

As at 31 December 2021, the Company has no significant commitments that needs to be disclosed 
except for the above. 

X. POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS  

As at 15 May 2022, the Company has no post balance sheet event that needs to be disclosed. 

XI. APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

These financial statements and the accompanying notes to the financial statements have been 
approved by the Company’s executive director on 15 May 2022. 

 

 

                                                  FII Consulting (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. 

                                                  15 May 2022 

 



Currency: RMB

2021

108,355.20                                         

Add: 207,569.66                                         

Including: 23,622.22                                           

183,947.44                                         

Less: 251,276.35                                         

Including 251,276.35                                         

64,648.51                                           

Note: The adjustments of taxable income referred to above are to be determined by the tax bureau.

Nansiang Lim              Ada Shi                                                     Ada Shi

The extra spending on business entertainment

Accrued annual leave salaries (ending balance)

Accrued annual leave salaries (beginning balance)

Sub total of adjustment for decrease tax

Legal representative:  Person in charge of accounting function:  Person in charge of accounting department:

Taxable income

Sub total of adjustment for increase tax

TAXABLE INCOME RECONCILIATION

2021

Company: FII Consulting (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.

Items

Profit before tax

[English Translation for Reference Only]
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